No. 94-3843

Earl e I ndustries, Inc., *
*
Petiti oner, *
*
V. *
*
Nat i onal Labor Rel ati ons Board, *
*
Respondent, *
*
Sout hwest Regi onal Joint Board, *
Amal ganmat ed C ot hi ng and *
Textile Wrkers Union, AFL-CIO *
CLC, *
*
| nt er venor. *
No. 95-1033

Earl e I ndustries, Inc., *
*
Respondent, *
*
V. *
*
Nat i onal Labor Rel ati ons Board, *
*
Petitioner, *
*
Sout hwest Regi onal Joint Board, *
Amal ganat ed C ot hi ng and *
Textile Wrkers Union, AFL-CIO *
CLC, *
*
| ntervenor. *

Subm tted: June 14,

On Petition for Review of
an Order of the National
Labor Rel ati ons Board.

On Petition for Enforcenent
of an Order of the National
Labor Rel ati ons Board.

1995



Filed: January 31, 1996

Bef ore WOLLMAN, FLOYD R G BSON and JOHN R G BSON, Circuit Judges.

JOHN R G BSON, Circuit Judge.

Earle Industries, Inc. petitions for review of a Nationa
Labor Rel ati ons Board order finding that Earle I ndustries commtted

an unfair |labor practice by firing Earley Me Wll ace. The
adm nistrative | aw judge found that Earle Industries fired Wall ace
for insubordination and dishonesty. However, the Board ordered

Earle Industries to reinstate Wallace with backpay, despite the
Board's adoption of the ALJ's credibility findings. The Board
cross-petitions for enforcenent. W grant the petition for review
and deny enforcenent of the order.

At the time she was fired, Wallace had worked for Earle
| ndustries for sixteen years. She had advocated unioni zation of
the conpany's workers for many years. The conpany had fired her
twice, first in 1977 and then in 1978. 1t reinstated her the first
time in settlenment of an unfair |abor practice charge, and the
second tinme as a result of a National Labor Relations Board Order.
See Earle Indus. Inc., 260 N.L.R B. 1128 (1982).

On Cctober 1, 1991, in the mdst of a union' organizing
canpaign at Earle Industries, the Reverend Jesse Jackson cane to
the plant to nmake a lunchtime speech in support of the union.? A

The rally was held by the Amal gamated O othing & Textile
Wor kers' Uni on, Sout hwest Regi onal Joint Board, which intervened
in this case.

\e recounted the story of the rally and subsequent events
in greater detail in NLRB v. Earle Indus., Inc., 999 F. 2d 1268
(8th Cir. 1993) (Earle I). In Earle I, we upheld the Board's
determ nation that any union m sconduct did not materially affect
el ection results. Earle |I did not involve Wallace's firing.
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tel evi sion news crew captured the speech and the ensui ng events on
vi deotape. The tape is in the record before us, and was the basis
for much of the detail in the ALJ's findings.

Jackson delivered his speech fromthe back of a flatbed truck
driven onto conpany property by a union representative. Local
police arrived on the scene and i nformed the uni on organi zers that
t hey were trespassing on conpany property and asked themto | eave.
The organi zers did not |eave voluntarily, so police arrested two
uni on representatives and put themin the back of a police car.
Police also drove the flatbed truck off conpany property.

Jackson then | earned that the two union nen were under arrest
and went to visit them at the police car, assuring them that he
woul d get them rel eased. The videotape followed Jackson as he
wal ked toward the plant, surrounded by a crowd of admrers.
Jackson and the crowd went to the enpl oyees' plant entrance. Above
t he door was a sign saying, "Enployees Only."

After Jackson entered the plant, Wallace wal ked to the front
of the entourage and led the way toward the office. The personnel
manager, Gary Smith, stepped up to bar Jackson's way. Smith told
Jackson he was trespassi ng and asked Jackson to | eave the pl ant and
return by the visitor's entrance in the front of the plant. As
this conversation was taking place, Wallace urged Jackson to wal k
past Smith, saying "Front door |ocked, conme on." Smith said to
her, "No ma'am"” Wal | ace repeated her statenent, and said to
Jackson, "Right over there,"” gesturing toward the office. Jackson
calmy told Smth he woul d go back out to the visitor's entrance if
Smith would go with him which Smth refused to do. Jackson and
Smth repeated this exchange several tines. Unable to turn Jackson
back, Smth gave up and retreated to the office, as the crowd
cheer ed.

Jackson, surrounded by the crowd and news caneras, wal ked on
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through the plant to vice president Peter Felsenthal's office
Jackson left the plant after speaking with police inside, but
Fel senthal did agree to neet with Jackson. Jackson then entered
the plant through the visitor's entrance.

Fel senthal obtained a copy of the videotape of Jackson's
confrontation with Smith fromthe tel evision station that recorded
it. After viewing the tape and seeing Wallace's pronmnent role in
t he Sm t h- Jackson confrontati on, Fel senthal decided to call Wll ace
in for questioning. On Cctober 7, Felsenthal interviewed Wil l ace,
with Smith and supervi sor Loui se Eskridge present. Unbeknownst to
Wal | ace, Fel senthal audiotaped the neeting. Wal | ace at first
refused to answer questions and demanded an attorney. Fel sent hal
offered to let Wallace have a fellow worker with her in the
interview, but Wallace still repeatedly declined to answer his
guestions. After Wallace said there was no point in questioning
her, since Fel senthal had seen the tape of the incident, Fel senthal
said: "I saw what was on T.V. and that was it. | don't know what
went on." In fact, Felsenthal had already seen the uncut news
station video, as well as the excerpts that appeared on the news.
The interview continued until Willace finally began naking
statenents. Wallace eventually told Fel senthal that she "did not
i ndicate to anybody that the front door was |ocked" and did not
"notion or encourage"” Jackson in his progress through the plant.

Earle Industries first suspended, then fired Wallace, citing
her conduct on Cctober 1 and her failure to cooperate with the
conpany investigation on Cctober 7.

The Union filed an unfair | abor practice charge against Earle
| ndustries, alleging that, in firing Wall ace, the conpany vi ol at ed
sections 8(a)(1) and (3) of the National Labor Relations Act.?

%Sections 8(a)(1) and (3), codified at 29 U.S.C. § 158
(1988), provide:
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Wal l ace filed an affidavit in which she described the Cctober 1
incident. In the affidavit Wallace said that when Smth stopped
Jackson she had said, "[L]et's clock,” and notioned to the other
workers to go to the time clock. She expl ai ned:

During the tinme that Jackson was in the plant talking to
Smith, I didn't have anything to do with what Smth and
Jackson were tal king about--1 was telling the girls to
"cone on" to the clock--and | was notioning themto comne-
-ki nd of whispering "don't forget to clock™ at the sane
time--they were talking. I can't renmenber saying
anything about a door being |ocked while Jackson was
comi ng down through the aisle in the plant. : I
don't have anything to dowth the front door at all--the
front door is wusually |ocked. S | was saying
"clock” not "lock."

After a hearing the adm nistrative | aw judge recomrended t hat
the Union's conplaint be dismssed. The ALJ held that Wallace
forfeited the protection of the NLRA by her conduct. Specifically,
the ALJ found that Willace intentionally lied during Smth's
confrontation with Jackson:

While it mght be argued that the first time Wall ace made
this statenent ["front door | ocked"] it was spontaneous,

| do not believe that to be the case. There is no
evi dence of record that the front door was | ocked. It is
normal Iy | eft unlocked at this time of day. And thereis
evidence that it was not |ocked on Cctober 1. When
Wal | ace said that it was | ocked the first time it was a
m sstatenment. . . . Wallace was a totally unreliable

(a) It shall be an unfair |abor practice for an
enpl oyer - -

(1) to interfere with, restrain, or coerce
enpl oyees in the exercise of the rights guaranteed in
section 157 of this title .

(3) by discrimnation in regard to hire or tenure
of enploynment or any termor condition of enploynent to
encour age or discourage nenbership in any |abor
or gani zati on. :
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W t ness. She lied before in a Board proceedi ng. She
lied in her affidavit to the Board in this proceeding.
And she lied while testifying herein. Wal | ace want ed
Jackson to continue walking through the plant
notw t hstanding the fact that it woul d have been obvi ous
to a reasonable person that Gary Smith, Respondent's
per sonnel manager, by what he said and by his body
| anguage, wanted Jackson to go back out the enployee
entrance. . . . Jackson, relying on what Wallace was
sayi ng, apparently believed he woul d be | ocked out of the
plant if they | ocked the enployee entrance behind him

Co But for Wallace's statenents, | believe that
Jackson woul d have gone, as he subsequently did, to the
front door. Wal |l ace's first statenent that the front
door was |ocked was not a spontaneous or inpulsive
st at enent . Wal lace inpressed ne as being a very
cal culating individual. This was a cal cul ated st atenent.
As she subsequently denonstrated, no matter what Smith
said or did Wallace want ed Jackson to proceed t hrough t he
pl ant and this was her way of achieving that.

Earle Indus., Inc., 315 NL.R B. 310, 347-48 (1994). The ALJ nade
specific findings that Earle Industries fired Wall ace because of

her insubordination and dishonesty, rather than because of her
uni on activity:

Was Wal | ace term nat ed because she was i nsubordi nate and
she lied about it or was she term nated because of her
union activity? In ny opinionit is the former. . . .
| believe that Respondent has shown that it would have
term nated Wallace absent her wunion activity and any
concerted protected activity she may have engaged in.

|d. at 348-49.

Despite the ALJ's reconmmendation, the Board found Earle
| ndustries had conmtted an unfair | abor practice, issued a cease
and desi st order, and ordered Earle Industries to reinstate Wall ace
wi th backpay. [1d. at 315-16.

Significantly, the Board adopted the ALJ's credibility
determ nations. 1d. at 310 n.1. The Board did not disagree with

the ALJ that Wall ace was i nsubordi nate and di shonest. ld. at 312
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n.11, 313-35. Rather, the Board used a different |egal analysis
than the ALJ. The ALJ held that Wallace had forfeited the
protection of section 7 of the NLRA' by her insubordination and
di shonesty. 1d. at 348. The ALJ then used the Wight Line® test
for mxed notive firings. [d. at 349. Under Wight Line, if an
enpl oyer is accused of firing an enpl oyee because of the enpl oyee's
union activities, the General Counsel nust show that the enployer

was notivated by anti-union aninus. The burden is then on the
enpl oyer, which can exonerate itself by showing that it would have
fired the enployee for a legitimate, nondiscrimnatory reason
regardl ess of the enployee's protected activity. See generally 1
ABA Section of Labor and Enpl oynent Law, The Devel opi ng Labor Law
195 (Patrick Hardin et al. eds. 3d ed. 1992). The ALJ found that
t he General Counsel had not showed Earle Industries acted out of
anti-union aninus. Earle Indus., 315 N.L.R B. at 349. Further, he
found that Earle Industries showed it would have fired Wall ace for

i nsubordi nati on and di shonesty regardl ess of her union activity.
| d.

The Board, on the other hand, considered the Wight Line test
i napplicable to this case because the m sconduct for which Earle

“Section 7 of the NLRA, codified at 29 U.S.C. § 157 (1988),
provi des:

Enpl oyees shall have the right to self-
organi zation, to form join, or assist |abor
organi zations, to bargain collectively through
representatives of their own choosing, and to engage in
ot her concerted activities for the purpose of
col | ective bargaining or other mutual aid or
protection, and shall also have the right to refrain
fromany or all of such activities except to the extent
that such right may be affected by an agreenent
requiring nmenbership in a | abor organization as a
condition of enploynent as authorized in section
158(a)(3) of this title.

°251 N.L.R B. 1083 (1980), enforced, 662 F.2d 899 (1st Gr
1981), cert. denied, 455 U. S. 989 (1982), approved in NLRB v.
Transportation Managenent Corp., 462 U. S. 393 (1983).
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| ndustries fired Wallace occurred in the context of concerted
activities. Id. at 315 n. 19. In such a case even conduct |ike
di shonesty and i nsubordination, which could justify firing under
the Wight Line test, can fall into a class of protected
m sbehavior or "leeway," which the Board considers a necessary
accommodation of the realities of industrial life. 1d. at 313-14;
see F. W Wolwrth Co., 251 N.L.R B. 1111 (1980), enforced, 655
F.2d 151 (8th Cir. 1981), cert. denied, 455 U S. 989 (1982);
Consuners Power Co., 282 N.L.R B. 130 (1986). The Board held that

Wal | ace' s i nsubordination fell "within the degree of I atitude which
the Act affords enployees in order to ensure that they may freely
exercise their Section 7 rights.” Earle Indus., 315 N L.R B. at

313. The Board found that Wallace's lies in the various steps of
this proceeding were precipitated by the conpany asking her
guestions it should not have asked: "Wallace nay well have felt
conpelled to conform her testinony in this proceeding to the
statenents which she nade during the course of the coercive

interrogation. . . ." [Id. at 315. Accordingly, the Board held
that in firing Wall ace, Earle Industries violated sections 8(a)(1)
and (3) of the NLRA (29 U.S.C. § 158(a)(1) & (3)). Id. at 313.

The Board ordered Wall ace reinstated with backpay. [d. at 315.

On petition for review, Earle Industries argues that it was
entitled to fire Wallace for insubordination and di shonesty.

W review the Board' s findings under the substantial evidence
standard, neaning that we will not disturb the findings if they are
supported by substantial evidence on the record as a whol e, taking
i nto account the evidence detracting fromthe findings. Universal
Canera Corp. v. NLRB, 340 U. S. 474, 488 (1951). W exam ne the
Board's findings nore critically when, as here, the Board's
conclusions are contrary to the ALJ's, because the ALJ's opinionis
part of the record we nust consider. GSX Corp. v. NLRB, 918 F.2d
1351, 1356 (8th G r. 1990); NLRB v. Hawkins Constr. Co., 857 F.2d
1224, 1226 (8th Cir. 1988); see Universal Canera Corp., 340 U S. at
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496.

Earle Industries argues that it was entitled to fire Wall ace
in order to maintain discipline at its plant. It argues that
Wal |l ace was part of a group of enployees who assisted and
acconpani ed Jackson in nmaking his way through a part of the plant
where he had no right to be.® Wen the personnel manager stopped
Jackson, Wl | ace defi ed the manager before a crowd of enpl oyees and
did so by neans of a false statenent. The ALJ found the false
statenent to be calculated, not inpulsive, Earle Indus., 315
N.L.RB. at 348, and the Board adopted the ALJ's credibility
findings, id. at 310 n. 1.

The Board argues that if an enployee's msconduct occurs
simul taneously with any sort of concerted activity, the enployer
must tolerate the conduct unless it is “"flagrant” and
"opprobrious”, and cites i nstances of equal |y bad behavi or that the
Board has protected in the past.’

®The Board conpares the Jackson incident to past incidents
in which other enployees' famly nenbers entered the plant by the
enpl oyees' door. Earle Indus., 315 NL.R B. at 314. The Board
argues that the conpany did not care about the rule, but used the
rule as a pretext for firing Wallace. The videotape of the
Jackson visit shows a horde of people, including news caneras,
ot her press, and enpl oyees, wal king en masse through the plant.
This crowd scene is hardly anal ogous to a visit by a solitary
husband or even a fam |y group cone to say good byes. See id. at
340. Therefore, we reject the Board's contention that these past
i ncidents show Earle Industries' concern about use of the
enpl oyee entrance during the Jackson incident was pretextual.

‘"The Board also cites several cases in which United States
courts of appeals enforced Board orders: Keokuk Gas Service Co.
v. NLRB, 580 F.2d 328, 335 n.17 (8th Cr. 1978); Hawaiian Hauling
Serv., Ltd. v. NLRB, 545 F.2d 674, 675-76 & n.8 (9th Gr. 1976),
cert. denied, 431 U.S. 965 (1977); Crown Cent. Petroleum Corp. V.
NLRB, 430 F.2d 724, 730-31 (5th Gr. 1970); J. P. Stevens & Co.

v. NLRB, 547 F.2d 792, 793-94 (4th G r. 1976); and Coors
Container Co. v. NLRB, 628 F.2d 1283, 1288 (10th Cr. 1980).

The first four cases involved grievance proceedi ngs, captive
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It is true that the Board has the power and the responsibility
t o bal ance t he enpl oyee's section 7 i nterest agai nst the enpl oyer's
interest in maintaining discipline. See NLRB v. Prescott |ndus.
Prods. Co., 500 F.2d 6, 10 (8th Cr. 1974); NLRB v. Thor Power Tool
Co., 351 F.2d 584, 587 (7th Cir. 1965). Though the Board's

decision is discretionary, it is not beyond review Prescot t
| ndus., 500 F.2d at 10. W nust deny enforcenment if the Board's
determnation is illogical or arbitrary. Id. And, nore to the

poi nt, that bal ancing test nmust be anchored in the policies of the
Nati onal Labor Relations Act. W have refused to enforce Board
orders based on the unreasonable and arbitrary conclusion that the
enpl oyee' s m sconduct should be protected under section 7. See
Prescott Indus., 500 F.2d at 10-11; NLRB v. Red Top, lInc., 455
F.2d, 721, 726 (8th Gr. 1972); accord Sullair P.T.O, Inc. V.
NLRB, 641 F.2d 500, 503 (7th G r. 1981).

The Board seeks to exercise its discretion by cutting a w de
swat h for perm ssible m sconduct occurring in connection with any
sort of concerted activity. The Board distinguishes only between
gradati ons of of fensiveness of the conduct. The Board's conception
of "leeway" for msconduct is far too blunt an instrunent when
applied without regard to the situation in which the m sconduct
took place. In past cases we have held the Board mnmust take into
account other factors in considering whether protecting such
conduct serves the NLRA's goals of self-organization and
representation. See Red Top, 455 F.2d at 725-26 (quoting NLRB v.
Jones & Laughlin Steel Corp., 301 U S. 1, 45-46 (1937)). W held
t he conduct of the enployees in Red Top to be unprotected because
protecting the conduct did not serve the purposes of the Act: "W

do not think the approval of conduct disclosed by this record will
encour age har noni ous | abor-nmanagenent rel ati onships nor result in

audi ence speeches, or strikes, all of which we discuss infra at
11-12. J. P. Stevens and Coors al so invol ved conduct
specifically found to be inpulsive, unlike Wallace's conduct in
this case. See infra at 12.
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t he proper consideration and resolution of legitimate grievances.
Quite to the contrary, it woul d  encourage insol ence,
i nsubordi nation, and intimdation." [d. at 728,

In view of the purposes of the NLRA, we have recogni zed that
an enployer cannot insist on subordination in the context of
bar gai ni ng or grievance processes. These are situations in which
the Act ainms for equality of bargaining positions between enpl oyer
and enpl oyee to permt neaningful negotiation. See Red Top, 455
F.2d at 728; Prescott Indus., 500 F.2d at 11; see also Chenvet
Labs., Inc. v. NLRB, 497 F.2d 445, 452 (8th Gr. 1974); see
generally NLRB v. Gty Disposal Sys., lInc., 465 U S. 822, 835
(1984) ("[I]t is evident that, in enacting 8 7 of the NLRA,
Congress sought generally to equalize the bargaining power of the
enpl oyee with that of his enployer by allow ng enpl oyees to band
together in confronting an enployer regarding the terns and
conditions of their enploynent."). In CGown Central Petroleum
Corp. v. NLRB, 430 F.2d 724 (5th G r. 1970), which the Board cites,
the Fifth Grcuit focussed on the context of the m sconduct as the
key to deciding whether the m sconduct was protected by the Act.
There, the m sconduct was protected because it occurred during

gri evance proceedi ngs:

O central inportance to our view of the case, is
the nature of the protected activity involved. Harris
and Glliamwere participating in a grievance neeting
which by its very nature requires a free and frank
exchange of views, and where bruised sensibilities my be
the price exacted for industrial peace. As the Board
noted, a grievance proceeding is not an audience,
conditionally granted by a naster to his servants, but a
nmeeting of equal s--advocates of their respective
positions. Manly was not assailed with abuse on the
floor of the plant where he stood as a synbol of the
Conpany's authority; the characterization of the untruth
came whil e he was appearing as a Conpany advocate during
a closed neeting with Union representatives.

430 F.2d at 73l (enphasis added). Therefore, we have required
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enpl oyers to countenance insubordinate, rude conduct in these
contexts that m ght be cause for firing without the protection of
t he NLRA.

Simlarly, in the context of strikes, grievances, and captive
audi ence speeches, we have recognized that industrial conflict
tends to bring out Iless than admrable conduct. W have
acknow edged the need to excuse inpul sive, exuberant behavior (so
long as not flagrant or rendering the enployee wunfit for
enpl oynment) as an i nevitabl e concom tant of struggle. See Prescott
| ndus., 500 F.2d at 10; Red Top, 455 F.2d at 728 ("It is of course
under st andabl e that tenpers may flare in the course of grievance
nmeeti ngs and that harsh and rough words may be exchanged between
the parties without giving rise to a basis for di scharge consi stent
with the protections afforded under 8 7 of the Act."). Conversely,
we have consi dered an enpl oyee's bad faith or cal cul at ed use of the
shelter of the Act in holding that section 7 did not extend its
protection to that enployee's acts.® See Red Top, 455 F.2d at 726
("[t]he question of whether or not the three enployees pressed
their alleged grievances in good faith becones vitally
important."); Prescott Indus., 500 F.2d at 10 ("[B] efore us we have
no situation of nere exuberant conduct."); cf. F. W Wolworth Co.
v. NLRB, 655 F.2d 151, 154 (8th G r. 1981) (excusing enployee's
conduct as inpulsive), cert. denied, 455 U S. 989 (1982).

W believe that this concern about bad faith remains vital
after ABF Freight Sys., Inc. v. NLRB, 114 S. C. 835 (1994). ABF
hol ds that the Board may reinstate an enpl oyee who was wongful ly
di scharged, but who lied to the enpl oyer and in Board
proceedi ngs. In ABF the Suprene Court enphasized that though the
wor ker had |ied, ABF fired himbecause of union activity and not
because of his dishonesty. 114 S. C. at 838. Therefore, the
guestion before the Court was whether the enployee's abuse of
Board proceedi ngs prevented the Board fromreinstating himeven
t hough the enpl oyer had committed an unfair |abor practice.
Wal | ace's case and those we rely on here deal with the entirely
different question of when it is an unfair |abor practice to fire
a worker for dishonesty and insubordination occurring in the
context of concerted activity.

-12-



We have al so wei ghed the effect of the enployee's conduct on
the enployer's authority in the workplace. Conpare Prescott
| ndus., 500 F.2d at 8-11 (permtting firing where walkout
under m ned enpl oyer's authority) with F. W Wolworth, 655 F. 2d at
154 (not permtting firing where enpl oyee's conduct posed no threat
to enployer's authority).

W also take into account whether the enployer unlawfully
provoked t he enpl oyee's m sconduct. See NLRB v. Vought Corp., 788
F.2d 1378, 1384 (8th Cir. 1986); WIlson Trophy Co. v. NLRB, 989
F.2d 1502, 1509 (8th G r. 1993). The ALJ specifically found that
Earl e Industries did not provoke Wallace's defiant conduct during
the Jackson incident, Earle Indus., 315 NL.RB. at 348, a
concl usion the Board did not take issue wth.

Here, the factors of context, inpulsiveness and effect on
discipline all weigh against Wallace. Al t hough the incident
occurred in the context of a union canpai gn, we cannot ignore the
fact that the nonenpl oyee union organizers had basically noved
their rally onto the plant floor. Wen Smth tried to assert the
conpany's rights,® Wallace defied him | f Wallace had not been
part of a group escorting Jackson through the enpl oyees' entrance, *°
she would never have beconme involved in the standoff between
Jackson and Smith; the concerted activity underlying her m sconduct
consi sted of breaking a legitinmate conpany rule with others. If we
hol d that the concerted activity gave her the license to defy her
enpl oyer, we allow her to | everage her rights by wongful conduct.
Thus, her <case is fundanentally different from grievance or

°See generally Lechnere, Inc. v. NLRB, 502 U.S. 527, 537
(1992).

“The Board makes sone issue about whether Wallace |ed
Jackson in the door. Earle Indus., 315 NL.R B. at 314 n.14. W
need not resolve that issue, since it is indisputable fromthe
vi deot ape that Wallace was part of a |arge band of enpl oyees
escorting Jackson through the plant.
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bar gai ni ng cases where the enpl oyee m sbehaved i n conducti ng uni on
busi ness that he had every right to pursue. Further, even if she
had not been breaking a conpany rule to begin with, Wallace defied
the personnel manager, not in the protected give and take of
negoti ations or grievance, but "on the floor of the plant where he
stood as a synbol of the Conpany's authority.” GCrown Cent., 430
F.2d at 731. This context differs crucially from grievance and
bargaining settings where the NLRA frees the worker from
subordi nati on the enpl oyer otherwi se has the right to insist on.

Second, the ALJ found that Willace deliberately lied to
Jackson to cause himto push forward instead of going back to the
visitor's entrance as Smith asked himto. The ALJ concluded the
m sconduct was "cal culated,” not inpulsive. Therefore, Wallace's
case differs fromthe cases where we excused i npul si ve or exuber ant
conduct . Protecting her action would create a license for
mani pul ati ve di shonesty, surely not a goal of the Act. See Red
Top, 455 F.2d at 728.

Finally, Smth was humliated in front of a cromd of workers
and news canmeras, undermning his authority in the plant. The
crowd cheered as Smth gave up on trying to turn Jackson back to
the visitor's entrance and as Jackson and his entourage surged
toward the office. The Board's decision sinply does not consider
the enployer's interest in maintaining discipline.

By holding that Wallace's initial msbehavior in escorting
Jackson through the plant gave her a zone of safety for
i nsubordination on the plant floor, and that her insubordination
gave her a license for her later dishonesty in the interview, the
Board does not serve the purposes of the Act, but gives the Board's
imprimatur to industrial anarchy. W therefore hold the Board's
m sqgui ded application of its balancing test to be unreasonabl e and
arbitrary.

-14-



There is not substantial evidence on the record as a whol e of
an unfair | abor practice. See Prescott Indus., 500 F.2d at 11.

We grant the petition for review and deny enforcenent of the
or der.

WOLLMAN, Gircuit Judge, dissenting.

The court's opinion sets forth a nost thorough review of our
decisions in cases of this nature, but it seens to me that the
opinion leads to the conclusion that the Board' s decision nust be
uphel d.

I n describing the events that occurred at Respondent's pl ant
on Cctober 1, 1991, we pointed out that less than two mnutes
el apsed fromthe time Reverend Jackson entered the plant to the
time he entered the front office; that the activities within and
wi thout the plant were restrained in nature; that neither Reverend
Jackson nor any union agents made any threats of any kind agai nst
Respondent's managenent, enployees or property; that Reverend

Jackson's exchange with Gary Smith was quiet and civil; that the
enpl oyees had not, contrary to Respondent's assertions; erupted
into a frenzy or near-riot. NL.RB. v. Earle Industries, Inc.

999 F.2d 1268, 1270, 1273 (8th Cr. 1993). Ganted, the issue in
t hat appeal was whet her the events of that day interfered with the
representation election held later that nonth, but our hol ding that
they did not supports the Board's holding that M. Wllace's
October 1, 1991, conduct fell wthin the zone of activities
protected by Section 7 of the National Labor Rel ations Act.

G ven Reverend Jackson's short stay within the enpl oyees' area
of the plant, the restrained nature of his exchange with Gary
Smth, and his subsequent entry through the visitors' entrance,
agree with the Board that M. Wllace's conduct in encouraging
Reverend Jackson to enter and proceed through the enployees’
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entrance was neither flagrant nor extrene and did not differ in any
mat erial way fromthe encouragenent offered to Reverend Jackson by
ot her enpl oyees, none of whomwas | ater disciplined by Respondent.

Li kew se, although | join wth the court in decrying
di shonesty and fal se statenents by enpl oyees, | cannot say that the
Board abused its discretion in holding that Ms. Wallace's fal se
answers during the October 7 interrogation did not forfeit her
right to the protections afforded her by the Act. If false
testinmony under oath before an admnistrative |aw judge does not
precl ude reinstatenent, see ABF Freight System Inc. v. NL.R B.
114 S. . 835 (1994), neither do the fal se statenents nmade by M.
Wal | ace in what the Board found was a coercive interrogation and

then only after she had initially exercised her right not to answer
any questions regarding her activities on October 1, 1991. Had |

been the adm nistrative law judge in this case, | mght well have
ruled as Judge West did, for | am no nore tolerant of false
statenments than are ny coll eagues. Enpl oyers are entitled to

honest enpl oyees, but where the false statenents are made in the
course of protected union activity, it is within the Board' s
di scretion to fashion a renedy for a violation of that protected
activity that in effect does not penalize, and perhaps wll be
vi ewed by sonme as rewardi ng, such statenents

| would deny the petition for review and would enforce the
Board's order of reinstatenent.

A true copy.

Attest:

CLERK, U. S. COURT OF APPEALS, ElIGHTH Cl RCUIT.
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